1992

Walter P. Larson and Sybil Larson v. Stephen P.  
Bruno, Dennis W. Gay, James Hogle, Jr., and Owen  
C. Hogle et al. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

#### STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction of this appeal rests with the Utah Supreme Court under Utah Code Annotated Section 78-2-2(3)(j). Pursuant to the authority vested in that court, the case was poured-over to this Court on December 24, 1992.

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Did the trial court err when it granted the motion for summary judgment, dismissing as defendants James Hogle, Jr. and Owen C. Hogle [hereinafter "appellees"], in spite of appellees' failure to demonstrate that there was no genuine issue of material fact and that they were entitled to judgment as a matter of law. In reviewing the trial court's ruling, this Court must view all facts and inferences in light most favorable to appellants and give no deference to the trial court's legal conclusions. Krantz v. Holt, 819 P.2d 352 (Utah 1991). See also Sanderson v. First Security Leasing Company, 201 Utah Adv. Rep. 18, 19 (1992).

#### DETERMINATIVE STATUTES

This appeal arises out of the trial court's granting of a motion for summary judgment making Rule 56 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure the determinative statute. That Rule is set forth verbatim in the addendum.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. NATURE OF THE CASE. This is an appeal from the Judgment and Order entered on July 7, 1992, granting appellees' motion for summary judgment.

2. COURSE OF PROCEEDING. The appellants filed their original complaint on July 27, 1983. In that complaint appellants alleged a claim based upon breach of contract and negligent misrepresentation. R. 2-5 On June 8, 1984, appellants filed an amended complaint wherein they essentially alleged the same claims as in their original complaint. R. 106-110 On August 30, 1988, the trial court granted appellees' motion for partial summary judgment dismissing the appellants' claim based upon negligent misrepresentation. R. 325-326 On October 7, 1988, the trial court apparently granted appellees' motion for summary judgment by ruling that appellees could not, as a matter of law, be held liable as principals and therefor should be dismissed as defendants. R. 436 Then, a mere four days later, on October 11, 1988, the trial court ordered the case to proceed to trial. R. 437 After further delays, on March 14, 1989, the trial court entered an order allowing appellants to file an amended complaint restating the first two causes of action and adding a third cause of action based upon fraud because the "complaint states a cause of action on its face". R. 581-582. On December 12, 1989, the trial court once again denied appellees' motion for summary judgment. R. 715-716 On February 28, 1990, the trial court in a minute entry ruled that "the facts [are] not so certain that a Summary Judgment could be granted as a matter of law." R. 735-736 Finally, the trial court, reversing its prior orders, entered an order granting appellees' motion for summary judgment. R. 891

3. DISPOSITION BY THE TRIAL COURT. On July 7, 1992, the the trial court entered an order granting of appellees' latest motion for summary judgment. It is from this order<sup>1</sup> that the appellants are appealing.

#### RELEVANT FACTS

1. That the appellants were the owners and operators of an automobile dealership known as Larson Ford Sales [hereinafter "Larson Ford"] which declared Chapter 11 bankruptcy in 1982.

2. That in January 1983 appellants were approached by Stephen P. Bruno and Dennis Gay [hereinafter "Bruno and Gay" respectively] regarding the sale of Larson Ford. R. 883

3. That Bruno and Gay were later identified as agents acting for and on behalf of appellees. R. 883 In fact, appellees personally told appellants that Bruno and Gay would be working with appellants to effectuate the transfer of Larson Ford from appellants to appellees. R. 884 That during all negotiations with Bruno and Gay, appellants were told that Bruno and Gay were acting for and on behalf of appellees. R. 883

4. That on January 15, 1983, Walter Larson attended a meeting with Bruno, Gay, and James Hogle, Jr. and was told

---

1. The trial court entered a minute entry dated June 12, 1992, indicating that appellees' latest motion for summary judgment had been granted. R. 891 Apparently an order was entered on or about July 7, 1992. However, at the time of the drafting of this brief such order had not been made part of the record. Although there is no dispute between the parties that such an order was entered.



that the defendants (appellees, Bruno and Gay) were all principals of the earnest money offer made for the purchase of Larson Ford. R. 884

5. That in February 1983 Walter Larson personally gave the appellees a guided tour of the entire Larson Ford dealership. During this tour, Larson answered all of the appellees' questions concerning the dealership and, once again was told by appellees that Bruno and Gay would be working with appellants to effectuate the details of appellees' takeover of Larson Ford. R. 884

6. That on January 7, 1983, Wardley Real Estate Company approached Walter Larson to obtain a listing agreement to sell Larson Ford. R. 637 On January 13, 1983, an earnest money offer was made to Wardley for the purchase of Larson Ford by Western Slope Development. That offer was subject to certain conditions. R. 637, 652-653

7. That on February 4, 1983, an earnest money receipt and offer to purchase Larson Ford was signed by Bruno, Gay and assigns. R. 638

8. That during a meeting on February 18, 1983, attended by all appellants and appellees it was agreed that all the contingencies under the February 4, 1983, offer were to be removed by February 25, 1983. R. 638, 884

9. That in February 1983, during a meeting at Larson Ford attended by Walter Larson, Bruno, Gay, and Owen Hogle, Walter Larson was informed that the appellees, through their attorneys, were communicating with the bankruptcy court concerning a possible loan to Larson Ford. R. 884 At the

time the appellees entered into the agreements to purchase Larson Ford from appellants, as debtors in possession, Larson Ford was in Chapter 11 bankruptcy. R. 636

10. That appellees continued to visit Larson Ford. In fact, it was common knowledge at the dealership that appellees were purchasing Larson Ford. R. 884

11. That on March 2, 1983, appellees along with their agents, Bruno and Gay, signed a Finders Fee agreement wherein they agreed to pay Wardley Corporation \$75,000.00 for the purchase of Larson Ford. R. 668, 885

12. That in March 1983 Owen Hogle, and others, informed Walter Larson that they had hired a general manager for Larson Ford. R. 638-639, 885

13. That on March 5, 1983, an Agreement in Escrow was executed by Walter Larson and HBGH, Inc., an intended corporation. That Agreement expressly incorporated the terms and conditions of the February 4, 1983, Earnest Money Receipt and Offer. R. 639, 670-672A, 885

14. That on March 11, 1983, following the instructions of Owen Hogle, Walter Larson deposited all outstanding shares of Larson Ford into escrow. R. 886

15. That on March 14, 1983, Owen Hogle re-hired all the employees of Larson Ford and assumed all responsibility for and the operation of Larson Ford. In fact, Owen Hogle conducted a "Going out for business" sale. Owen Hogle paid employees and assumed the role of an owner and operator of Larson Ford. R. 886-887

16. That appellees represented to the United States

Bankruptcy Court that they were purchasing Larson Ford. R. 886-887, 880

17. That Owen Hogle and Gay filed personal financial statements with the Bankruptcy Court. Furthermore, these documents refer not only Owen Hogle as one of the investors in the purchase of Larson Ford, but a certain anonymous investor who had cash reserves available of half a million dollars (James Hogle, Jr. certainly has such wealth). R. 640, 887

18. That after executing agreements and leading appellants to believe that appellees were purchasing Larson Ford, appellees failed to support Larson Ford's bankruptcy plan, failed to negotiate with Ford Motor Company, failed to substitute collateral agreements with various banks to which Larson Ford owed money, failed to supply needed capital to Larson Ford, and failed to subsequently execute other agreements to fully carry out the terms of the March 5, 1983, agreement. R. 888-889

19. That appellees made no effort to contact the creditors of Larson Ford or Ford Motor Company. R. 889 And, prior to the approval of an alternative plan in the bankruptcy court, appellees withdrew their support of Larson Ford's bankruptcy plan and abandoned Larson Ford. R. 890

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Some of the cases presented to this Court involve questionable issues of either facts or law. Some cases presented to this Court actually involve clear issues with

obvious solutions. Unfortunately, some cases presented to this Court should not be in this Court. This case is one which should not even be considered by this Court.

The trial court in this case was unable to clearly resolve the issues presented to it and decisively rule. And, when the trial court finally made a decision, the decision was wrong.

The appellants have alleged that the appellees breached a contract, were guilty of making negligent misrepresentations and committed fraud.

The appellees were in fact very clever in stealing appellants' business. The appellees did not personally sign any contracts. Instead, they had their acknowledged agents sign on appellees' behalf. Then appellees successfully argued to the trial court that they could not breach a contract they did not personally sign. Of course, this Court will not trip over such a specious argument. Appellees should be and are liable for the actions of their agents. This includes being subject to a lawsuit based upon the breach of such contract.

Appellees were not so clever in the negligent misrepresentations and fraud they committed. First, they personally told appellants that appellants were dealing with appellees' agents in effectuating the sale of Larson Ford. Second, appellees represented to the United States Bankruptcy Court that they were purchasing Larson Ford from appellants. Third, appellees actually took over the daily operation of Larson Ford.

The appellees' misrepresentations and fraud were not the

product of smoke and mirrors but of bold face lies. Shockingly, the trial court refused to recognize that appellants had raised issues of fact and that appellees were not entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.

This Court must not be misled by appellees and their arguments nor must this Court be deceived by the trial court's error. Instead, this Court must view all facts and inferences in light most favorable to appellants and it must accord no deference to the trial court's legal conclusions. In so doing, this Court will correct the trial court's error and remand this case to the trial court for a trial.

#### ARGUMENT

##### I.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT GRANTED APPELLEES' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT.

Rule 56(c) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure provides, in part, that a summary judgment shall be granted only if "there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law."

##### A. THERE ARE GENUINE ISSUES AS TO MATERIAL FACTS.

The appellants in the form of an affidavit have raised weighty questions of fact surrounding the appellees' involvement in the purchase of Larson Ford. R. 883-890 It should be noted that the appellees have never filed any affidavits admitting to or controverting the facts set forth in Walter P. Larson's affidavit. In fact, it must be noted that appellees never filed any affidavit in support of their

motion for summary judgment.

In his affidavit, and answers to interrogatories, Walter P. Larson has alleged that the appellees were in fact the individuals who were purchasing Larson Ford. The appellees have never denied that fact, since they could not truthfully do so. In his affidavit, Walter P. Larson further alleged that appellees visited Larson Ford, that appellees (specifically Owen C. Hogle) took over the daily operation of Larson Ford, that appellees dismissed employees of Larson Ford, that appellees hired employees for Larson Ford, that appellees conducted sales at Larson Ford and that appellees paid the bills of Larson Ford. R. 790-791, 886

Further evidence that the appellees were in fact purchasing, and certainly misleading appellants into believing that appellees were purchasing, Larson Ford can be found in the various agreements executed by the parties. On March 2, 1983, appellees signed a Finder's Fee Agreement wherein they personally agreed to pay Wardley Corporation the sum of \$75,000.00 for its services in the acquisition of Larson Ford. R. 668

Furthermore, appellees (although they agreed to do so) failed to make any effort to satisfy Ford Motor Credit, failed to provide substitute collateral to creditors of Larson Ford and, as a final death blow, appellees failed to support their own bankruptcy plan which directly led to the approval of another competing plan and appellants' loss of all economic benefits from Larson Ford. R. 859-862, 888-889

Based upon these undisputed facts, the questions which

must be asked and answered is how the appellees can claim that they had no involvement in the purchase of Larson Ford?

More importantly, how can the trial court even consider granting a summary judgment in favor of appellees when confronted with these facts?

In reviewing the facts, this Court must assume the truthfulness of appellants' allegations and supporting evidence and it must not give any deference to the trial court's legal conclusions. Krantz v. Holt, 819 P.2d 352, 353-354 (Utah 1991)

Based upon the facts of this case, it is submitted that the trial court erred in granting appellees' motion for summary judgment based upon the facts of this case.

B. APPELLEES ARE NOT ENTITLED TO SUMMARY JUDGMENT AS A MATTER OF LAW.

The appellants have set forth three causes of action in their (second) amended complaint. R. 487-499

1. BREACH OF CONTRACT.

The first cause of action is based upon breach of contract. R. 493

On March 5, 1983, an Agreement and Escrow was signed by HBGH, Inc. (an intended corporation) and Walter P. Larson for the sale and purchase of Larson Ford. R. 670-673<sup>2</sup> That Agreement and Escrow incorporated the February 4, 1983, Earnest Money Receipt and Offer to Purchase and Addendum. R.

---

2. In the record the last page of the Agreement and Escrow, should be numbered 673 but is not numbered at all.

673-674

The February 4, 1983, Earnest Money Receipt was signed by Bruno and Gay as "purchaser" and by Mr. Larson as "seller". R. 674 The Agreement and Escrow was also executed by the same parties in the same capacity. R. 673

Under the Agreement and Escrow the "purchaser" agreed "to infuse the necessary capital" into the business. R. 672

The appellees failed to comply with any of the conditions of that agreement.

As set forth under point II below, the appellees are, as they should be, held liable for a breach of contract signed by their agents.

## 2. NEGLIGENT MISREPRESENTATION.

A second cause of action in appellants' second amended complaint is based upon negligent misrepresentation.

The Utah Supreme Court in Christenson v. Commonwealth Land Title Insurance Company, 666 P.2d 302, 305 (Utah 1983), defined the elements of negligent misrepresentation as follows:

"(1) one having a pecuniary interest in a transaction, (2) is in a superior position to know material facts, and (3) carelessly or negligently makes a false representation concerning them, (4) expecting the other party to rely and act thereon, and (5) the other party reasonably does so and (6) suffers loss in that transaction, the representor can be held responsible if the other elements of fraud are also present."

Let us examine the facts of this case. First, the appellees certainly had a pecuniary interest in the sale and purchase of Larson Ford. The appellees personally, and through their agents, Bruno and Gay, told appellants that they [appellees] wanted to purchase Larson Ford. Second, the



appellees were in a superior position to know material facts. The appellees knew the exact nature of their relationship with Bruno and Gay, they knew of their own capacity to purchase and also to operate Larson Ford and they knew about Larson Ford's bankruptcy because their attorney was intimately involved in that bankruptcy. Third, appellants made careless and negligent false representation. Appellees represented that they would purchase Larson Ford, they represented that Bruno and Gay were their agents, they represented that they would support Larson Ford's bankruptcy plan, they represented that they would contact Ford Motor Company, and they represented that they would provide substitute collateral to Larson Ford's creditors to allow appellants to retrieve their collateral.

The appellants, of course, trusted and relied upon the representations made by appellees. The appellants transferred stock into escrow, they relinquished the daily operation of Larson Ford to appellees and they signed agreements to sell their family business, Larson Ford, to appellees. Under all the circumstances of this case, appellants' reliance can only be characterized as reasonable.

Finally, and tragically, appellants have suffered a great loss. The appellants have not only lost a family business, started by Walter P. Larson's father, but they have lost over a million dollars because of the intolerable conduct of the appellees. R. 862-863

Viewing all facts and inferences in light most favorable to appellants and according no deference to the trial court's

conclusions, this Court must reverse the trial court's granting of appellees' motion for summary judgment.

### 3. FRAUD

A third cause of action alleged a claim based upon fraud.

The Utah Supreme Court recently defined fraud as "a false representation of an existing material fact, made knowingly or recklessly for purpose of inducing reliance thereon upon which the plaintiff reasonably relies to his detriment." Atkinson v. IHC Hospitals, Inc., 798 P.2d 733, 737 (Utah 1990).

Examination of the facts of this case clearly demonstrates that appellees have committed a fraud upon appellants. Appellees have admitted that they met with appellants for the purpose of extending the time within which conditions contained in the Earnest Money Agreement had to be satisfied. R. 880-881, 884 Appellees further admitted that Owen Hogle filed personal financial statements with the United States Bankruptcy Court indicating that he intended to purchase Larson Ford. R. 886-887 Appellee, Owen Hogle, as the owner of Larson Ford provided a dealer bond so that Larson Ford could legally operate as an automobile dealer within the State of Utah. R. 880 Furthermore, Owen Hogle wrote memos outlining procedures which employees of Larson Ford had to follow. R. 880-881

These admissions by the appellees, coupled with the undisputed facts that appellees went into appellants'

business, assumed all responsibility for operating the automobile business and operated the business until the eleventh hour of the bankruptcy vote and then totally withdrew leaving appellants to turn slowly in the wind, all support appellants' claim that they were the victims of a fraud perpetrated by appellees.

Induced by this fraud, appellants broke off all other discussions concerning the sale of Larson Ford with other prospective buyers. After all, if appellees were purchasing Larson Ford, how could appellants continue to negotiate for the sale of Larson Ford with other buyers? R. 860

Appellants' reliance was reasonable and these false representations of appellees led to the appellants losing their business, their homes and income from their business. R. 862-863

The appellees misled the appellants into believing that the appellees were in fact purchasing Larson Ford. In the end, however, appellees failed to support appellants' bankruptcy plan, a plan appellees helped draft. As a final act of deception, appellees switched their support in the Bankruptcy Court from appellants' plan to the only other plan, filed by Stephen Wade Pontiac, an unsecured creditor of Larson Ford who was owed \$130.00. R. 861

After the Wade plan was approved, appellees were paid all money they had invested in Larson Ford and their attorneys recovered all the legal fees expended.

As a final interesting note concerning appellants' claim of fraud, appellants have learned that appellees and the

other named defendants have a history of joint real estate dealings. And, appellees' current counsel had previously represented Bruno, HGBH, appellants and Larson Ford. R. 862

Appellants have stated a claim based upon fraud and have presented facts to support such claim. Based thereon, this Court must remand this matter to the trial court so that a trial on the issues may be held.

## II.

THE KNOWLEDGE OF APPELLEES' AGENTS MUST BE IMPUTED TO APPELLEES, AS SUCH APPELLEES ARE LIABLE FOR THE ACTS OF THEIR AGENTS.

The State Supreme Court long ago ruled that the contract of the agent is the contract of the principal, and the principal, though not named in the contract may sue and be sued thereon. Zeese v. Siegel's Estate, 534 P.2d 85, 88 (Utah 1975).

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