1992

# Walter P. Larson, Sybil Larson, and John Larson v. James Hogle Jr. and Owen C. Hogle : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

#### ARGUMENT

##### POINT I: THERE ARE NO GENUINE ISSUES AS TO APPELLANTS' CAUSE OF ACTION FOR BREACH OF CONTRACT.

##### A. It Is Undisputed That the Appellees Did Not Enter Into A Contract With The Appellants.

The first cause of action of the Appellants' Amended Complaint alleges a breach of the "Agreement and Escrow" dated March 5, 1983. For the Appellees to have breached this contract, they must have been parties to that contract. It is undisputed that Appellees James and Owen Hogle are not parties to the "Agreement and Escrow". The "Agreement and Escrow" is between HBGH, Inc. as purchaser and Walter Park Larson as seller. Stephen Bruno and Dennis Gay signed the agreement on behalf of HBGH, an "intended corporation". At the time the agreement was signed, HBGH was not a corporation. HBGH was incorporated on March 22, 1983. Appellant Sybil Larson stated in her deposition that the appellants were aware HBGH was to become a corporation, and treated it as such.



The "Agreement and Escrow" incorporated an Earnest Money Receipt and Offer to Purchase and Addendum dated February 4, 1983. The Appellees are not parties to either of those documents. The parties to the Earnest Money Receipt and Offer to Purchase were Stephen P. Bruno and Dennis W. Gay and/or assigns, and Appellant Walter P. Larson. The parties to the Addendum are Walter P. Larson for Larson Ford Sales and Stephen B. Bruno. As was stated in Appellee Owen Hogle's Affidavit, the Appellees were never the assigns of Bruno, Gay or HBGH.

There is an Amendment to the "Agreement and Escrow" of March 5, 1983. That Amendment is between Stephen B. Bruno and Dennis Gay as buyers and Appellants Walter P. Larson and Walter P. Larson, president of Larson Ford Sales, Inc.

The parol evidence rule as set forth in FMA Financial Corporation v. Hansen Dairy, Inc., 617 P.2d 327 (Utah 1980), prevents the Appellants from introducing any evidence that would contradict or vary the terms of the written agreements. There is one caveat to the parol evidence rule. A party may introduce evidence that is collateral to the written agreement. The collateral evidence may not be inconsistent with or repudiate the terms of the written agreement.

Appellants claim that the Appellees were parties to the March 5, 1983 Agreement by virtue of representations made to the

Appellants by agents of the Appellees. This assertion contradicts and varies the terms of the written agreements. The Appellants may not make use of the caveat to the parol evidence rule. The Agreement of March 5, 1983 (and other documentation in this case) is void of even the slightest indication that the Appellees were parties to the contract. To claim otherwise is inconsistent and varies an essential term of the March 5, 1983 Agreement.

It is significant to note that the parties who signed the "Agreement and Escrow" and other documents did specify the capacity in which they were signing each document. On numerous documents, Appellant Walter P. Larson signed for himself and for Larson Ford Sales, Inc. Gay and Bruno signed on their behalf and on behalf of HBGH. No document was signed on behalf of the Appellees.

B. It Is Undisputed That The Appellees' Contractual Obligations, If Any, Are Subject To An Unfulfilled Condition Precedent.

If the Court finds that there is a factual dispute as to whether the Appellees are parties to the "Agreement and Escrow", summary judgment on the cause of action for breach of contract is still proper. Pursuant to the contractual documents, the purchasers obligations were subject to an unfulfilled condition precedent. The case of Creer v. Thurman, 581 P.2d 149 (Utah 1979) is an example of where an individual's obligations to a contract do

not arise due to an unfulfilled condition precedent. In Creer the plaintiff entered into an agreement with the defendant to purchase a parcel of real estate. The court found that the plaintiff knew that there was a possibility that the defendant's ability to convey title was based on a contingency. The contingency did not occur and the defendant was unable to convey title. The court, in holding that the defendant's contractual obligation had not arisen, stated:

"Whether a provision in a contract is a condition, the non-fulfillment of which excuses performance, depends upon the intent of the parties, to be ascertained from a fair and reasonable construction of the language used in light of all the circumstances when they executed the contract." Id. at 51.

Should this court find that there is a factual dispute as to whether the Appellees are parties to the contract, summary judgment is still proper as the Appellees cannot be liable for a breach of contract as it is undisputed that the purchasers' contractual obligations are subject to a condition precedent that was never satisfied. Prior to the Agreement of March 5, 1983, Larson Ford Sales had filed for relief under Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code. The Appellants had, in accordance with Section 1121 of the United States Bankruptcy Code, 120 days from the date they filed for relief in which to file their own bankruptcy plan.

Pursuant to paragraphs E and F of the March 5, 1983 "Agreement and Escrow", the closing date was to be within ten (10) days from the date the Bankruptcy Court confirmed the Plan of Reorganization submitted by Larson Ford Sales. Pursuant to the "Agreement and Escrow", if the Bankruptcy Court did not approve the plan of Larson Ford Sales, the purchasers had the right to "rescind the purchase "Agreement and Escrow". It is undisputed that the Bankruptcy Court did not approve the plan submitted by Larson Ford.

Once the 120-day period in which the debtor has an exclusive right to file a bankruptcy plan has expired, any other party in interest may file a bankruptcy plan. Once the bankruptcy court approves a plan of an interested party, a debtor can no longer file his own plan. In the instant case, it is undisputed that Stephen Wade, as a party in interest, submitted a bankruptcy plan. Wade's first plan was rejected. Wade submitted a second plan which was then approved by the Bankruptcy Court. As it is undisputed that the obligation to purchase Larson Ford was contingent upon the Bankruptcy Court's approval of a plan submitted by Larson Ford, and as it is undisputed that the Bankruptcy Court did not approve Larson Ford's plan, it is also undisputed that the purchasers' obligation to purchase Larson Ford was subject to an unfulfilled condition precedent.

C. Pursuant to the "Amendment" to the "Agreement and Escrow", It Is Undisputed That the Purchasers Had the Right to Cease Active Pursuit of Larson Ford's Plan of Reorganization.

Should the Court find that there are factual disputes as to whether (a) Bruno and Gay signed the "Agreement and Escrow" on behalf of the Appellees; and (b) the purchasers' obligation under the "Agreement and Escrow" is subject to an unfulfilled condition precedent, summary judgment is still proper as there can be no dispute that the Amendment to the "Agreement and Escrow" allowed the purchasers to cease the pursuit of Larson Ford's plan of reorganization. The first paragraph of the Amendment states:

"It is agreed that the stock and voting rights will be reconveyed to Walter P. Larson in the event the purchasers cease active pursuit of the plan of reorganization of Larson Ford, Inc. (emphasis added)".

As it is undisputed that the Addendum to the "Agreement and Escrow" gave the purchasers the absolute right to no longer pursue the purchase of Larson Ford, the Appellants cannot create a factual dispute by claiming that by way of affidavit the Appellees breached the contract by failing to comply with the terms of the "Agreement and Escrow".

POINT II: THERE IS NO GENUINE DISPUTE THAT THE APPELLEES DID NOT MAKE CARELESS AND/OR NEGLIGENT MISREPRESENTATIONS.

The Appellants' Second Cause of Action alleged that the Appellees, acting through their agent Bruno and Gay, falsely represented:

(a) that the Appellees would get releases from Citizen's Bank and CSB Bank;

(b) that the Appellees would substitute collateral with the Small Business Administration;

(c) that the Appellees would pay the outstanding sales tax;

(d) that the Appellees would personally commit funds; and

(e) that the Appellees would cooperate in the committing of ...financial resources.

A. The Appellant's Claim of Negligent and/or Careless Misrepresentation Is Barred by The Parol Evidence Rule.

In the immediately preceding section, the Appellees have set forth the negligent and/or careless misrepresentations claimed by the Appellants. These "misrepresentations" are actually contractual obligations set forth in the "Addendum". Considering that Bruno and Gay signed the "Agreement and Escrow", Addendum and Amendment as purchasers and in their own capacity without any indication that they were signing the documents on behalf of anyone else, it is undisputed that Bruno and Gay obligated themselves

(and/or HBGH) and no one else. As was stated above, the parol evidence rule prevents the Appellants from introducing evidence that would vary or contradict the explicit terms of the written agreements, unless the evidence is consistent with or does not repudiate the terms of the written agreement. To claim that the Appellees were to perform certain acts when the written documents state that it was Bruno and Gay (and/or HBGH) who were to perform these acts is inconsistent with and repudiates an essential term of the contract.

B. It Is Undisputed That Negligent Misrepresentation Cannot Apply In The Instant Case.

In Ellis v. Hale, 373 P.2d 382 (Utah 1962) this Court held that:

"Negligent misrepresentation differs from intentional representation in that in the former the representor makes an affirmative assertion which is false without having used reasonable diligence or competence in ascertaining the verity of the assertion. Moreover, liability will only lie for negligent misrepresentation when there is a special duty of care running from the representor to the representee." Id. at 385.

In Blodgett v. Martsch, 590 P.2d 298 (Utah 1979), the court set forth the limited circumstances in which the representor is held to a special duty of care:

"If the circumstances are such that the defendant could exercise extraordinary influence over the plaintiff and the defendant was or should have been aware the plaintiff reposed trust and confidence in the defendant and reasonable relief on defendant's guidance, then the

parties are said to be 'in confidential relationship'....There are few relationships (such as parent-child, attorney-client, trustee-cestui) which the law presumes to be confidential." Id. at 302.

The Appellants cite the case of Christensen v. Commonwealth Land Title Insurance, 666 P.2d 302 (Utah 1983) to set forth the elements of negligent misrepresentation. The Appellants fail to mention that in Christensen, just as in Ellis and Blodgett, the court held that unless there is a special duty of care, there cannot be negligent misrepresentation. The court quoted 1 F. Harper and F. James, The Law of Torts, § 7.6 at 546, for the proposition that such a special relationship and duty of care exists where the speaker is in the business of providing such information:

"If, however, the information is given in the capacity of one in the business of supplying such information, that care and diligence should be exercised which is compatible with the particular business or profession involved. Those who deal with such persons do so because of the advantages which they expect to derive from this special competence. The law, therefore, may well predicate on such a relationship, the duty of care to insure the accuracy and validity of the information." 1 F. Harper & F. James, *supra*, § 7.6 at 546.

It is undisputed that in the instant case there was no such special duty of care or confidential relationship. The Appellants do not argue in their brief that negotiations between Bruno and Gay and the plaintiffs were anything but arms-length negotiations. The Affidavit of Walter Park Larson is devoid of any assertion that



there was a special duty of care or a confidential relationship. Even should this Court find that Bruno and Gay were the agents of the Appellees, the lower court properly dismissed the cause of action for negligent misrepresentation as negligent misrepresentation does not apply to facts of the instant case.

C. It Is Undisputed That The Appellees Did Not Misrepresent Facts to the Appellants.

As was set forth above, the Appellants second cause of action claims that the Appellees made careless and/or negligent misrepresentations. On May 21, 1987 Appellant Walter P. Larson was deposed by the Appellees. Appellant Larson was asked numerous questions concerning the alleged false misrepresentations. Appellant Larson testified that (a) the alleged misrepresentations were the Appellees' "failure to perform on the basis of the agreement we'd drawn up..." (page 51, lines 17, 24; page 52, line 4-7; page 53, lines 15-24; page 57, line 25; page 58, lines 3-5); (b) that misrepresentations were made by an individual who had no authority to bind the Appellees (page 53, lines 24, 15; page 54, lines 1-7); and (c) that the basis for the claim that the defendants knew their alleged misrepresentations were false when they were made was that Appellee Owen Hogle was not present during the "final negotiating..." (page 58, lines 18-22) and that "they didn't follow through with it" (page 58, lines 8, 9).

On February 16, 1988 Appellees served Appellants with Interrogatories and Request for Production of Documents. Interrogatory No. 6 asked the Appellants to state each and every fact that supported the Appellants' claim that the Appellees had made false misrepresentations. In response, the Appellants stated that an individual had made "claims and assurances that the defendants had wealth" and that other "contacts had stated that the defendants' name was "reliable and respected." On May 21, 1988 Appellant Walter P. Larson was deposed. Consistent with the above-mentioned answer to Interrogatories, the Appellant had testified that the misrepresentations were made by an individual named Steven Brown, and that Mr. Brown did not have the authority to bind the Appellees. Despite his answers to Interrogatories and his deposition testimony, the Appellants sought to forestall summary judgment by filing an affidavit in which they claimed that the Appellees, both personally and through their agents, made careless and/or negligent misrepresentations.

In Webster v. Sill, 675 P.2d 1170 (Utah 1983), the Court stated:

"...when a party takes a clear position in a deposition, that is not modified on cross-examination, he may not thereafter raise an issue of fact by his own affidavit which contradicts his deposition, unless he can provide an explanation of the discrepancy." Id. at 1173.

As the Affidavit of Walter P. Larson contradicts his deposition testimony as well as his signed and sworn Answers to Interrogatories, and as the Affidavit does not attempt to explain the discrepancies between his Affidavit and his previous testimony, it remains undisputed that the Appellees did not make careless and/or negligent misrepresentations to the Appellants.

D. It Is Undisputed That Appellants Did Not Rely on Representations of the Appellees in Entering Into the "Agreement and Escrow".

As was set forth in the preceding subsection, it is undisputed that the Appellees did not make any careless and/or negligent misrepresentations. It follows that if the Appellees did not make any representations, it is also undisputed that the Appellants could not have relied on any false misrepresentations made by the Appellees. Support for this position is found in Dupler v. Yates, 351 P.2d 624 (Utah 1960). In Dupler, the plaintiff had purchased the defendant's interest in oil wells. The plaintiff claimed that he had been induced to purchase these oil wells by the defendant's false representations. The Supreme Court of Utah affirmed the trial court's granting of defendant's motion for summary judgment. The court based its decision on the fact that the plaintiff, in agreeing to buy the defendant's oil

interests, had relied on representations made by individuals other than the defendants:

"As a matter of law it is conceivable that a person might simultaneously rely on misrepresentations of divergent defendants. However, standing alone admissions by plaintiffs that they relied on others is sufficient proof to negative reliance on the present defendant." Id. at page 636.

In the instant case, as in Dupler, as the Appellants' sworn testimony is that they relied on representations of others in entering into the agreement, it is undisputed that the Appellants did not rely on representations of the Appellees.

POINT III: ON THE BASIS OF THE APPELLANT'S OWN DEPOSITION TESTIMONY AND ANSWERS TO INTERROGATORIES, IT IS UNDISPUTED THAT APPELLEES WERE NOT PART OF THE SCHEME TO DEFRAUD THE APPELLANTS.

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